Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: February 7, 2019 REVISED: March 25, 2019 ACCEPTED: May 14, 2019 PUBLISHED: May 21, 2019

The dark side of fuzzball geometries

M. Bianchi,^{a,b} D. Consoli,^{a,b} A. Grillo^a and J.F. Morales^b

^aDipartimento di Fisica, Università di Roma "Tor Vergata", Via della Ricerca Scientifica, 00133 Roma, Italy

^bINFN — Sezione di Roma "Tor Vergata", Via della Ricerca Scientifica, 00133 Roma, Italy E-mail: massimo.bianchi@roma2.infn.it, dario.consoli@univie.ac.at, alfredo.grillo@roma2.infn.it, morales@roma2.infn.it

ABSTRACT: Black holes absorb any particle impinging with an impact parameter below a critical value. We show that 2- and 3-charge fuzzball geometries exhibit a similar trapping behaviour for a selected choice of the impact parameter of incoming massless particles. This suggests that the blackness property of black holes arises as a collective effect whereby each micro-state absorbs a specific channel.

KEYWORDS: Black Holes in String Theory, D-branes

ARXIV EPRINT: 1811.02397



Contents

1	Introduction		1
2	Overview and summary of results		2
	2.1	The 3-charge fuzzball metrics	2
	2.2	The geodesics	4
3	Black hole geometry		7
	3.1	The non-rotating three charge black hole	7
	3.2	The rotating supersymmetric black hole	8
4	Two-charge fuzzballs		9
	4.1	The circular fuzzball solution	10
	4.2	The geodesic equations	10
	4.3	Critical geodesics	11
	4.4	An example of critical geodesics	13
5	3-charge fuzzballs		14
	5.1	The Hamiltonian and momenta	14
	5.2	$\vartheta = 0$ geodesics	14
	5.3	$\vartheta = \pi/2$ geodesics	16
		5.3.1 Asymptotic circular orbits	17
	5.4	Geodesics in the near horizon geometry	18
6	Conclusions and outlook		

1 Introduction

The interest in objects colloquially known as black holes (BH's) has been revived not only by their role in the generation of the first gravitational wave signal detected by the LIGO-Virgo collaboration [1] but also by the possibility that primordial BH's may account for a (small) fraction of the dark matter in the universe [2] and rotating BH's and similar objects may accelerate cosmic rays thanks to Penrose mechanism [3, 4].

In String Theory it is natural to describe BH's as ensembles of micro-states represented by smooth, horizonless geometries without closed time-like curves, the so called "fuzzballs" [5–11]. The counting of micro-states for extremal 3- and 4-charged black hole states in five and four dimensions has proven to be very successful [12–16], while the identification of the corresponding geometries in the supergravity regime has revealed to be much harder [17–37]. To go one step further one can probe fuzzball geometries with particles, waves and strings and test the proposal at the dynamical level [38]. Elaborating on our recent work on 2-charge systems [38], our present focus will be on the geodetic motion of massless particles on a class of 3-charge micro-state geometries introduced in [39]. This should capture the relevant physics not only for large impact parameters where the eikonal approximation of the scattering process is valid even quantitatively [40–51], but also for small impact parameters whereby the particles get trapped or absorbed, at least at a qualitative level. We leave the analysis of waves and strings or other classes of smooth geometries (such as JMaRT [52]) to the future.

The picture that emerges from our analysis is that the blackness property of black holes arises as a collective/statistical effect where each micro-state absorbs a specific channel. More interestingly, this universal property of fuzzball geometries suggests the possible existence of more exotic distributions of micro-state geometries looking effectively as gravitational filters obscuring only a band in the light spectrum of distant sources, or more bizarre black looking objects such as rings, spherical shells, etc. A more detailed analysis should take into account radiation damping, i.e. the energy lost in gravitational wave emission by an accelerated particle. Contrary to the case of an accelerated charged particle, we expect gravitational brems-strahlung to be anyway negligible for a vast range of kinematical parameters.

The paper is organised as follows. In section 2 we introduce the class of micro-state geometries we will consider, discuss the general behaviour of massless geodesics in these backgrounds and summarise our results. In particular we will introduce the notions of *turning points* and *critical geodesics*, characterising geodesics that either bounce back to infinity or get trapped spinning around the gravitational source, respectively. In section 3–5 we analyse the behavior of massless geodesics in the case of 3-charge black holes, 2-charge and 3-charge fuzzballs respectively. The analysis of 2-charge fuzzballs is performed in full generality, while the analysis of the 3-charge case is restricted to geodesic motion along or perpendicular to the plane of the string profile characterising the fuzzball. The latter case lacks spherical symmetry and exhibits an intricate non-completely separable dynamics. A simple solution in this class is presented in some detail. Section 6 contains our conclusions and outlook.

2 Overview and summary of results

In this section we introduce the fuzzball geometries we will be interested in and summarise our results. We write down the general form of the metric, the Lagrangian governing the dynamics of massless neutral particles and the geodesic equations. We then identify the conjugate momenta and the Hamiltonian and describe how to take advantage of the isometries when present. We also discuss the classification of the geodesics when the system is integrable.

2.1 The 3-charge fuzzball metrics

We will consider 3-charge BPS micro-state geometries belonging to the general class constructed in [39].¹ The ten-dimensional metric can be written in the form

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\sqrt{Z_{1}Z_{2}}}{Z^{2}} ds_{6}^{2} + \sqrt{\frac{Z_{1}}{Z_{2}}} ds_{\mathcal{T}_{4}}^{2}.$$
 (2.1)

¹In the notation of this reference, we focus on solutions with k = 1, m = 0 and n an arbitrary positive integer.

where $ds_{\mathcal{T}_4}^2$ is the metric on a T^4 torus (or a K3 surface, in fact) while the 6-dimensional metric ds_6^2 describes a 5-dimensional space-time times a compact circle of radius R_y . This manifold can be parametrized with coordinates $\{t, \vec{X}, y\}$ or alternatively by introducing the null coordinates $u = \frac{t-y}{\sqrt{2}}$ and $v = \frac{t+y}{\sqrt{2}}$ and the oblate spheroidal coordinate system

$$X_1 + iX_2 = \sqrt{\rho^2 + a^2} \sin \vartheta \, e^{i\varphi} \,, \qquad X_3 + iX_4 = \rho \, \cos \vartheta \, e^{i\psi} \,. \tag{2.2}$$

By doing so one obtains

$$ds_6^2 = g_{mn} dx^m dx^n = -2 \left(dv + \beta_m dx^m \right) \left(du + \gamma_m dx^m \right) + Z^2 \, ds_4^2 \,. \tag{2.3}$$

where ds_4^2 is the flat metric of \mathbb{R}^4

$$ds_4^2 = \left(\rho^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \vartheta\right) \left(\frac{d\rho^2}{\rho^2 + a^2} + d\vartheta^2\right) + \left(\rho^2 + a^2\right) \sin^2 \vartheta \, d\varphi^2 + \rho^2 \cos^2 \vartheta \, d\psi^2 \,. \tag{2.4}$$

The functions $Z_1, Z_2, Z, \beta_m, \gamma_m^2$ depend on the coordinates \vec{x} of \mathbb{R}^4 and on v, their explicit expression is as follows

$$Z_{1} = 1 + \frac{L_{1}^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}} + \frac{\varepsilon_{1}R^{2}\Delta_{n}s_{\vartheta}^{2}\cos 2\phi}{L_{5}^{2}(\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2})} \qquad Z_{2} = 1 + \frac{L_{5}^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}}$$

$$Z_{4}^{2} = \frac{2\varepsilon_{4}^{2}R^{2}\Delta_{n}s_{\vartheta}^{2}\cos^{2}\phi}{(\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2})^{2}} \qquad Z^{2} = Z_{1}Z_{2} - Z_{4}^{2}$$

$$\beta_{\varphi} = \frac{a^{2}Rs_{\vartheta}^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}} \qquad \beta_{\psi} = -\frac{a^{2}Rc_{\vartheta}^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}}$$

$$\gamma_{\varphi} = \alpha\beta_{\varphi} - \frac{n\varepsilon_{1}R}{2L_{5}^{2}}\Delta_{n}\cos 2\phi s_{\vartheta}^{2} \qquad \gamma_{\psi} = -\alpha\beta_{\psi} \qquad \gamma_{v} = \mathcal{F}_{n}$$

$$\gamma_{\vartheta} = -\frac{\varepsilon_{1}R}{2L_{5}^{2}}\Delta_{n}\sin 2\phi s_{\vartheta} c_{\vartheta} \qquad \gamma_{\rho} = -\frac{\varepsilon_{1}R}{2L_{5}^{2}}\frac{\Delta_{n}}{\rho}\sin 2\phi s_{\vartheta}^{2} \qquad (2.5)$$

with $s_{\vartheta} = \sin \vartheta, c_{\vartheta} = \cos \vartheta$ and

$$\phi = \varphi + \frac{nv}{R} \qquad \qquad R = \frac{R_y}{\sqrt{2}}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_n = -\frac{\varepsilon_4^2}{2a^2} \left[1 - \left(\frac{\rho^2}{\rho^2 + a^2}\right)^n \right]$$

$$\Delta_n = \frac{a^2}{\rho^2 + a^2} \left(\frac{\rho^2}{\rho^2 + a^2}\right)^n$$

$$\alpha = 1 - \mathcal{F}_n - \frac{n\varepsilon_1}{2L_5^2} \Delta_n \cos 2\phi \, s_\vartheta^2 \,.$$
(2.6)

Regularity of the metric near $\rho = 0$, $\vartheta = \pi/2$ requires [39]

$$a^{2} = \frac{L_{1}^{2}L_{5}^{2}}{2R^{2}} - \frac{\varepsilon_{4}^{2}}{2} \quad , \quad \varepsilon_{4}^{2} = \varepsilon_{1} \left(1 + \frac{a^{2}n}{L_{5}^{2}} \right).$$

$$(2.7)$$

²For the class of solutions we are interested in the components β_{ρ} , β_{ϑ} , β_{u} , β_{v} and γ_{u} are identically zero.

The conserved charges and the angular momenta J and \tilde{J} are given by

$$Q_1 = L_1^2$$
, $Q_5 = L_5^2$, $Q_P = \frac{\varepsilon_4^2 n}{2}$, $J = \tilde{J} = \frac{Ra^2}{\sqrt{2}} \neq 0$. (2.8)

or equivalently

$$J_{\varphi} = J + \tilde{J} = \sqrt{2}Ra^2, \qquad J_{\psi} = J - \tilde{J} = 0.$$
 (2.9)

We will study the scattering of massless neutral particles in the following special cases of the family of BPS metrics introduced above:

- 3-charge non-rotating black holes: recovered as the $a \rightarrow 0$ limit of the 3-charge metric.
- 2-charge fuzzball: obtained by setting $\varepsilon_1 = n = 0$ in the 3-charge metric.
- 3-charge fuzzball: the general case restricted to the planes $\vartheta = 0$ and $\vartheta = \pi/2$.

2.2 The geodesics

We are interested in null geodesics in the 6-dimensional geometry that solve the Euler-Lagrange equations derived from the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} g_{mn} \dot{x}^m \dot{x}^n \,, \tag{2.10}$$

with g_{mn} the six-dimensional metric,³ and dots denoting derivatives with respect to an affine parameter τ . Null geodesics are specified by solutions $x^m(\tau)$ of the Euler-Lagrange equations satisfying $\mathcal{L} = 0$. Equivalently one can introduce the Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H} = P_m \dot{x}^m - \mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} g^{mn} P_m P_n \tag{2.11}$$

expressed in terms of the conjugate momenta

$$P_m = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{x}^m} = g_{mn} \, \dot{x}^n \,. \tag{2.12}$$

It will prove useful to keep in mind that

$$2P_u P_v = E^2 - P_y^2 \ge 0, \qquad (2.13)$$

where E and P_y are the momenta conjugate to t and y, respectively. In the Hamiltonian formulation, geodesics are described by the velocities

$$\dot{x}^m = \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial P_m} \tag{2.14}$$

³The never vanishing factor $\frac{\sqrt{Z_1Z_2}}{Z^2}$ in front of the 6-dimensional metric (2.3) can be absorbed in a redefinition of the affine parameter τ , and neglected when dealing with 6-dimensional geodesics.

with P_m a solution of the system of equations⁴

$$2\mathcal{H} = g^{mn} P_m P_n = 0 \tag{2.16}$$

$$\dot{P}_m = -\frac{\partial \pi}{\partial x^m} \tag{2.17}$$

The metric is independent of the variables u and ψ , so the momenta P_u and P_{ψ} will always be conserved. The Hamiltonian can be written in the compact form

$$\mathcal{H} = -P_u \,\widehat{P}_v + \frac{1}{2Z^2} \left[\frac{(\rho^2 + a^2)\widehat{P}_{\rho}^2}{\rho^2 + a^2 c_{\vartheta}^2} + \frac{\widehat{P}_{\vartheta}^2}{\rho^2 + a^2 c_{\vartheta}^2} + \frac{\widehat{P}_{\varphi}^2}{(\rho^2 + a^2)s_{\vartheta}^2} + \frac{\widehat{P}_{\psi}^2}{\rho^2 c_{\vartheta}^2} \right]$$
(2.18)

in terms of the shifted momenta

$$\widehat{P}_m = P_m - \beta_m (P_v - \gamma_v P_u) - \gamma_m P_u \,. \tag{2.19}$$

The velocities become

$$\dot{\rho} = \frac{(\rho^2 + a^2)\hat{P}_{\rho}}{Z^2(\rho^2 + a^2c_{\vartheta}^2)}, \qquad \dot{\vartheta} = \frac{\hat{P}_{\vartheta}}{Z^2(\rho^2 + a^2c_{\vartheta}^2)} \dot{\varphi} = \frac{\hat{P}_{\varphi}}{Z^2(\rho^2 + a^2)s_{\vartheta}^2}, \qquad \dot{\psi} = \frac{\hat{P}_{\psi}}{Z^2\,\rho^2\,c_{\vartheta}^2}$$
(2.20)

with more involved formulae for \dot{u} and \dot{v} . The Hamiltonian constraint $\mathcal{H} = 0$ can be solved by taking

$$\widehat{P}_{\rho} = \pm \left(\frac{\rho^2 + a^2 c_{\vartheta}^2}{\rho^2 + a^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[2Z^2 P_u \,\widehat{P}_v - \frac{\widehat{P}_{\vartheta}^2}{\rho^2 + a^2 c_{\vartheta}^2} - \frac{\widehat{P}_{\varphi}^2}{(\rho^2 + a^2)s_{\vartheta}^2} - \frac{\widehat{P}_{\psi}^2}{\rho^2 c_{\vartheta}^2}\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(2.21)

with minus and plus signs for the branches along which the particle approaches or leaves the gravitational target, respectively. We notice that according to (2.20) \hat{P}_{ρ} determines the radial velocity of the particle. Starting from infinity, $\rho(\tau)$ monotonously decreases until it reaches a point ρ_* where \hat{P}_{ρ} vanishes and flips sign. This is said to be an *inversion* (or *turning*) point. Since ρ is a monotonous function along this branch it can be used *in principle* to parametrize the evolution time, expressing all remaining coordinates $x^m(\rho)$ as a function of ρ instead of the affine parameter τ . In practice, this is possible only when the system is integrable. Examples of integrable geodesics occur for BH's with or without angular momenta, 2-charge circular fuzzballs and geodesics along the plane orthogonal to the string profile in the 3-charge system. The most difficult and interesting case (motion along the plane of the profile in the 3-charge case) eludes this simplistic analysis and will be addressed in section 5.3.

$$\dot{\mathcal{H}} = g^{mn} P_m \left(\dot{P}_n + \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial x^n} \right) = 0$$
(2.15)

⁴We notice that the equations of motion imply

so, one of the equations of motion, let us say the one for ρ can be replaced by $\mathcal{H} = 0$.



Figure 1. Geodesics in the black hole and fuzzball geometries for different values of the impact parameter b.

When the system is integrable and all the variables can be explicitly expressed in terms of ρ , the time (measured by an observer at infinity) required by a geodesic to reach the inversion (or turning) point ρ_* starting from a point ρ_0 is given by⁵

$$\Delta t = \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho_*} d\rho \,\left(\frac{dt}{d\tau}\right) \frac{\rho^2 + a^2 c_{\vartheta}^2(\rho)}{\rho^2 + a^2} \,\frac{Z^2(\rho)}{\widehat{P}_{\rho}(\rho)} \,. \tag{2.23}$$

This integral may or may not diverge. Focusing for simplicity on geodesics with zero internal momenta $(P_y = 0)$ and denoting by K the total angular momentum of the incoming

$$\frac{dt}{d\tau} = -\frac{(1-\gamma_v)P_u + \hat{P}_v}{\sqrt{2}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}Z^2} \left[\gamma_\vartheta \hat{P}_\vartheta + (\rho^2 + a^2)\gamma_\rho \hat{P}_\rho + \frac{\beta_\psi (1-\gamma_v) + \gamma_\psi}{\rho^2 \cos^2 \vartheta} \hat{P}_\psi + \frac{\beta_\varphi (1-\gamma_v) - \gamma_\varphi}{(\rho^2 + a^2) \sin^2 \vartheta} \hat{P}_\varphi \right] \quad (2.22)$$

⁵The derivative of the time coordinate t w.r.t. the affine parameter τ is given by

particle the impact parameter is given by b = K/E. We can distinguish three distinct scenari depending on the value of b (see figure 1):

- Scattering processes: they occur where either the geodesics encounter a turning point $\rho_* > 0$, i.e. a single zero of $\hat{P}^2_{\rho}(\rho)$ or when $\hat{P}_{\rho}(\rho)$ is positive everywhere and the time to reach $\rho = 0$ is finite. This includes all geodesics on black hole geometries with large enough impact parameter and generic geodesics in fuzzball geometries.
- Critical falling: they occur when geodesics encounter a critical point ρ_* defined as a double zero of $\hat{P}^2_{\rho}(\rho)$. In this case, the time to reach ρ_* is infinite and the particle asymptotically approaches ρ_* without ever reaching it. This class of geodesics exists for specific choices of the impact parameter, both for black holes and fuzzballs.
- Absorption processes: they occur for black hole geometries when geodesics find no turning point before the black hole horizon. In this case $\hat{P}_{\rho}(\rho)$ is positive everywhere and the time to reach the horizon is infinite.

3 Black hole geometry

In this section we consider massless geodesics in the 3-charge five-dimensional black hole geometry with and without angular momenta.

3.1 The non-rotating three charge black hole

The non-rotating 3-charge black hole metric is obtained by taking a = n = 0 in (2.1) and (2.3). The Z-functions and one-forms reduce to

$$Z_{1} = 1 + \frac{L_{1}^{2}}{\rho^{2}}, \qquad \qquad Z_{2} = 1 + \frac{L_{5}^{2}}{\rho^{2}}, \qquad \qquad Z^{2} = Z_{1}Z_{2}$$

$$\gamma_{m}dx^{m} = \mathcal{F}_{0} dv = -\frac{L_{p}^{2}}{\rho^{2}} dv, \qquad \qquad \beta_{m} = 0. \qquad (3.1)$$

For this choice the oblate radius ρ coincides with the spherical radius r everywhere and the solution is spherically symmetric. The solution corresponds to a non-rotating fivedimensional black hole with a horizon at $\rho = 0$ [53, 54]

The 'dressed' D1-brane charge Q_1 , D5-brane charge Q_5 and Kaluza-Klein momentum Q_P are given by

$$Q_1 = L_1^2$$
, $Q_5 = L_5^2$, $Q_P = L_p^2$. (3.2)

The massless geodesic equation $\mathcal{H} = 0$ can be written in the separable form

$$2\rho^{2}Z^{2}\mathcal{H} = \left[-2\rho^{2}Z^{2}P_{u}\left(P_{v}-\mathcal{F}_{0}P_{u}\right)+\rho^{2}P_{\rho}^{2}\right] + \left[P_{\vartheta}^{2}+\frac{P_{\varphi}^{2}}{s_{\vartheta}^{2}}+\frac{P_{\psi}^{2}}{c_{\vartheta}^{2}}\right] = 0 \qquad (3.3)$$

where the two brackets account for ρ and ϑ dependent terms, respectively. The former equation can be solved by imposing that the combinations inside the brackets be constant, i.e.

$$K^{2} = P_{\vartheta}^{2} + \frac{P_{\varphi}^{2}}{s_{\vartheta}^{2}} + \frac{P_{\psi}^{2}}{c_{\vartheta}^{2}} = 2\rho^{2}Z^{2}P_{u}\left(P_{v} - \mathcal{F}_{0}P_{u}\right) - \rho^{2}P_{\rho}^{2}$$
(3.4)

The right hand side equation can be solved for P_{ρ}

$$P_{\rho}^{2} = -\frac{K^{2}}{\rho^{2}} + \frac{2P_{u}(\rho^{2} + L_{1}^{2})(\rho^{2} + L_{5}^{2})}{\rho^{4}} \left(P_{v} + \frac{L_{p}^{2}P_{u}}{\rho^{2}}\right).$$
(3.5)

We notice that for

$$K^{2} < 2P_{u}^{2}L_{p}^{2} + 2P_{u}P_{v}(L_{5}^{2} + L_{1}^{2})$$
(3.6)

the function P_{ρ}^2 is positive everywhere, so the geodesics extend down to the horizon at $\rho = 0$. The flight time down to the horizon diverges

$$\Delta t \approx -L_1 L_5 L_p \int_{\rho_0}^0 \frac{d\rho}{\rho^3} \tag{3.7}$$

as expected for a black hole geometry.

3.2 The rotating supersymmetric black hole

The analysis of geodesics in more general black hole backgrounds, extremal or not, with or without charges and angular momenta, follows *mutatis mutandis* the same steps as before and the existence of a critical value for the total angular momentum of the incoming particles can be always displayed. In this section, we illustrate this universal feature by considering scattering from a three equal charge supersymmetric black hole with non-trivial angular momentum in five dimensions. The metric of this black hole reads [55]

$$ds_{S}^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{\mu}{r^{2}}\right)^{2} \left(dt - \frac{\mu\omega\sin^{2}\vartheta}{r^{2} - \mu}d\varphi - \frac{\mu\omega\cos^{2}\vartheta}{r^{2} - \mu}d\psi\right)^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{\mu}{r^{2}}\right)^{-2}dr^{2} + r^{2}\left(d\vartheta^{2} + \sin^{2}\vartheta\,d\varphi^{2} + \cos^{2}\vartheta\,d\psi^{2}\right)$$
(3.8)

where μ is the mass parameter and ω accounts for the angular velocity. For concreteness, we focus on geodesics at constant ϑ , let us say $\vartheta = 0.^6$ Consistently, we set $\dot{\vartheta} = \dot{\varphi} = 0$, i.e. $P_{\vartheta} = P_{\varphi} = 0$. The corresponding Hamiltonian reduces to

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2}g^{mn}P_mP_n = -\frac{1}{2}\left(1 - \frac{\mu}{r^2}\right)^{-2}E^2 + \frac{1}{2}\left(1 - \frac{\mu}{r^2}\right)^2P^2 + \frac{1}{2r^2}\left(J - \frac{\mu\omega E}{r^2 - \mu}\right)^2$$
(3.9)

with

$$-E = g_{tn}\dot{x}^{n} = -\left(1 - \frac{\mu}{r^{2}}\right)^{2} \left(\dot{t} - \frac{\mu\omega}{r^{2} - \mu}\dot{\psi}\right)$$
$$J = g_{\psi n}\dot{x}^{n} = \frac{\mu\omega}{r^{2} - \mu} \left(\dot{t} - \frac{\mu\omega}{r^{2} - \mu}\dot{\psi}\right) + r^{2}\dot{\psi} \qquad (3.10)$$
$$P = g_{rn}\dot{x}^{n} = \left(1 - \frac{\mu}{r^{2}}\right)^{-2}\dot{r}.$$

⁶The analysis for $\vartheta = \pi/2$ is identical exchanging $\varphi \leftrightarrow \psi$.



Figure 2. Critical impact parameter b_c vs the BH angular velocity ω , both in units of $\sqrt{\mu}$. For every value of ω we find two different critical parameters, corresponding to the intersections with the solid line.

The momenta E and J are conserved while P is determined by solving the null condition $\mathcal{H} = 0$ leading to (in the incoming branch)

$$P(r^{2}) = -\frac{r}{(r^{2} - \mu)^{2}} \left[E^{2} r^{6} - \left[J(r^{2} - \mu) - \mu \omega E \right]^{2} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(3.11)

We notice that, if $\omega^2 < \mu$, the polynomial inside the brackets is positive for large r and negative for $r = \sqrt{\mu}$ and therefore it vanishes for some $r_* > \sqrt{\mu}$. For this choice, the particle either bounces back or gets trapped inside a critical trajectory before it reaches the horizon at $r = \sqrt{\mu}$. The trapping behaviour occurs if $J = J_c$ such that a point r_* exists where $P(r_*) = P'(r_*) = 0$. Parametrising the angular momentum by means of the impact parameter b = J/E, the two equations are solved by taking

$$r_* = \left|\frac{2\,b_c}{3}\right| \tag{3.12}$$

with b_c a solution of the cubic equation

$$4b_c^3 - 27\mu(b_c + \omega) = 0 \tag{3.13}$$

The solutions are

$$b_c = -3\sqrt{\mu}\sin\left(\frac{1}{3}\arctan\frac{\omega}{\sqrt{\mu-\omega^2}} + \frac{2\pi}{3}C\right), \qquad C = -1, 0, 1$$
 (3.14)

It is easy to see that C = 0 leads to a zero $r_* < \sqrt{\mu}$ inside the horizon, so it should be discarded. The remaining two roots lead to critical geodesics of the black hole geometry.

4 Two-charge fuzzballs

In this section we consider massless geodesics along 2-charge fuzzball geometries obtained by setting $\varepsilon_1 = \varepsilon_4 = n = 0$ in the three-charge fuzzball solution.

4.1 The circular fuzzball solution

The general 2-charge geometry is specified by a profile function $\vec{F}(v)$ with values on $\mathbb{R}^4 \times \mathcal{T}^4$. Here we choose a circular profile $\vec{F}(v)$ in \mathbb{R}^4

0

$$\vec{F}(v) = a\left(\cos\frac{2\pi v}{\lambda}, \sin\frac{2\pi v}{\lambda}, 0, 0\right)$$
(4.1)

for which one has

$$Z_{1} = 1 + \frac{L_{1}^{2}}{\lambda} \int_{0}^{\lambda} \frac{\left|\vec{F}(v)\right|^{2} dv}{\left|\vec{X} - \dot{\vec{F}}(v)\right|^{2}} = 1 + \frac{L_{1}^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}}$$
(4.2)

$$Z_{2} = 1 + \frac{L_{5}^{2}}{\lambda} \int_{0}^{\lambda} \frac{dv}{\left|\vec{X} - \dot{\vec{F}}(v)\right|^{2}} = 1 + \frac{L_{5}^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}}$$

and $Z^2 = Z_1 Z_2$. Moreover the 1-forms β and γ are given by [56]

$$\beta = \beta_m dx^m = \frac{a^2 R}{\rho^2 + a^2 c_\vartheta^2} \left(s_\vartheta^2 d\varphi - c_\vartheta^2 d\psi \right) ,$$

$$\gamma = \gamma_m dx^m = \frac{a^2 R}{\rho^2 + a^2 c_\vartheta^2} \left(s_\vartheta^2 d\varphi + c_\vartheta^2 d\psi \right)$$
(4.3)

with $R = R_y/\sqrt{2}$, R_y being the radius of S^1 along the y-direction. The geometry has no horizon for

$$a^2 = \frac{L_1^2 L_5^2}{2R^2} \,. \tag{4.4}$$

4.2 The geodesic equations

The Hamiltonian depends only on ϑ and ρ , so the momenta P_u , P_v , P_{ψ} and P_{φ} are all conserved. The Hamiltonian can be separated [57–60] according to

$$2Z^{2}\left(\rho^{2}+a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}\right)\mathcal{H}=\lambda_{\rho}(\rho,P_{\rho})+\lambda_{\vartheta}(\vartheta,P_{\vartheta})$$
(4.5)

with

$$\lambda_{\vartheta}(\vartheta, P_{\vartheta}) = P_{\vartheta}^2 + \frac{P_{\psi}^2}{\cos^2 \vartheta} + \frac{P_{\vartheta}^2}{\sin^2 \vartheta} + 2a^2 \sin^2 \vartheta P_u P_v$$
(4.6)

$$\lambda_{\rho}(\rho, P_{\rho}) = (\rho^2 + a^2)P_{\rho}^2 + \frac{a^2 P_{\psi}^2}{\rho^2} - \frac{a^2 P_{\varphi}^2}{\rho^2 + a^2} - 2(\rho^2 + a^2 + L_1^2 + L_5^2)P_u P_v$$
(4.7)

and

$$\widetilde{P}_{\psi} = P_{\psi} + R\left(P_v - P_u\right), \qquad \widetilde{P}_{\varphi} = P_{\varphi} + R\left(P_v + P_u\right)$$
(4.8)

Equation $\mathcal{H} = 0$ can be solved by taking

$$\lambda_{\vartheta} = -\lambda_{\rho} = K^2 \tag{4.9}$$

with K a constant, that can be interpreted as the total angular momentum. Equivalently one has

$$P_{\vartheta}(\vartheta)^{2} = K^{2} - \frac{P_{\psi}^{2}}{c_{\vartheta}^{2}} - \frac{P_{\varphi}^{2}}{s_{\vartheta}^{2}} - 2P_{u}P_{v}a^{2}s_{\vartheta}^{2}$$
$$P_{\rho}(\rho)^{2} = -\frac{a^{2}\widetilde{P}_{\psi}^{2}}{\rho^{2}(\rho^{2} + a^{2})} + \frac{a^{2}\widetilde{P}_{\varphi}^{2}}{(\rho^{2} + a^{2})^{2}} + \frac{2\left(\rho^{2} + L_{1}^{2} + L_{5}^{2} + a^{2}\right)P_{u}P_{v} - K^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}}.$$
 (4.10)

Expressing the velocities in terms of the momenta

$$\dot{\vartheta} = \frac{P_{\vartheta}(\vartheta)}{Z^2(\rho^2 + a^2 c_{\vartheta}^2)}, \qquad \dot{\rho} = \frac{\rho^2 + a^2}{\rho^2 + a^2 c_{\vartheta}^2} \frac{P_{\rho}(\rho)}{Z^2}$$

one finds the separable geodesic equation

$$\frac{d\vartheta}{P_{\vartheta}(\vartheta)} = \frac{d\rho}{P_{\rho}(\rho)(\rho^2 + a^2)}$$
(4.11)

that implicitly determines $\vartheta(\rho)$ in terms of elliptic integrals. Finally, $\varphi(\rho)$ and $\psi(\rho)$ follow from

$$d\psi = \frac{\rho^2 P_{\psi} + a^2 c_{\vartheta}^2 \,\widetilde{P}_{\psi}}{P_{\rho}(\rho) \rho^2 (\rho^2 + a^2) c_{\vartheta}^2} \, d\rho \quad , \quad d\varphi = \frac{(\rho^2 + a^2) P_{\varphi} - a^2 \, s_{\vartheta}^2 \,\widetilde{P}_{\varphi}}{P_{\rho}(\rho) \rho^2 (\rho^2 + a^2) s_{\vartheta}^2} \, d\rho \tag{4.12}$$

after integration over ρ .

4.3 Critical geodesics

It is convenient to write

$$P_{\rho}^{2}(\rho) = \frac{\mathcal{P}_{3}(\rho^{2})}{\rho^{2}(\rho^{2} + a^{2})^{2}}$$
(4.13)

and set $\rho^2 = x$ so that

$$\mathcal{P}_3(x) = A x^3 + B x^2 + C x + D \tag{4.14}$$

with

$$A = 2 P_u P_v$$

$$B = 2 P_u P_v (2a^2 + L_1^2 + L_5^2) - K^2$$

$$C = a^2 \left[\tilde{P}_{\varphi}^2 - \tilde{P}_{\psi}^2 + 2 P_u P_v (a^2 + L_1^2 + L_5^2) - K^2 \right]$$

$$D = -a^4 \tilde{P}_{\psi}^2.$$
(4.15)

Since A > 0 and D < 0, the polynomial $\mathcal{P}_3(x)$ is positive for large x and negative for small x. Therefore it has at least a zero x_* (the largest one) for positive $x = \rho^2$. This is in contrast with the behaviour observed for the black hole geometry, where $P^2_{\rho}(\rho)$ was shown to be positive everywhere for small enough angular momenta K. We conclude that massless probes in the fuzzball metric escape from the gravitational background, even for low values of the angular momentum K. An exception occurs when the angular momentum is tuned such that x_* is a double zero of $\mathcal{P}_3(x)$, i.e.

$$\mathcal{P}_3(x_*) = \mathcal{P}_3'(x_*) = 0 \tag{4.16}$$

For this choice, the integral (2.23) diverges and the surface $\rho_* = \sqrt{x_*}$ looks like a horizon for the massless geodesics. Indeed, for a critical value of K such that the two largest roots of $\mathcal{P}_3(x)$ collide, the particle winds around the target forever, asymptotically approaching the 'circular' orbit with radius ρ_* . Such geodesics will be referred to as *critical geodesics*. In the remaining of this section we will display some explicit choices of kinematics exhibiting such trapping behaviour.

First, we notice that the conditions A > 0 and D < 0, together with the requirement that the largest root is double and positive, imply that all three roots are positive and

$$A, C > 0, \qquad B, D < 0.$$
 (4.17)

Solving (4.16) for x_* and D one finds

$$x_* = \frac{1}{3A} \left(-B + \sqrt{B^2 - 3AC} \right)$$

$$D = \frac{2}{27A^2} (B^2 - 3AC)^{3/2} - \frac{B}{27A^2} (2B^2 - 9AC).$$
(4.18)

Solutions compatible with (4.17) exist if

$$4AC \ge B^2 \ge 3AC \,. \tag{4.19}$$

The two extreme cases where the inequalities are saturated are easy to solve in analytic form:

• Case I: $B^2 = 3AC$. For this choice all three roots collide and $D = \frac{BC}{9A}$. From (4.15) one finds

$$\widetilde{P}_{\varphi}^{2} = \frac{\left[K^{2} + 2(a^{2} - L_{1}^{2} - L_{5}^{2})P_{u}P_{v}\right]^{3}}{108 a^{4} P_{u}^{2} P_{v}^{2}}$$

$$\widetilde{P}_{\psi}^{2} = \frac{\left[K^{2} - 2(2a^{2} + L_{1}^{2} + L_{5}^{2})P_{u}P_{v}\right]^{3}}{108 a^{4} P_{u}^{2} P_{v}^{2}}$$
(4.20)

and

$$\rho_*^2 = \frac{K^2}{6P_u P_v} - \frac{1}{3}(2a^2 + L_1^2 + L_5^2) > 0.$$
(4.21)

We notice that a critical geodesic of this type exists for a large enough total angular momentum K.

• Case II: $B^2 = 4AC$. For this choice one finds D = 0,

$$\widetilde{P}_{\psi} = 0$$

$$\widetilde{P}_{\varphi}^{2} = \frac{\left[K^{2} - 2P_{u}P_{v}(L_{1}^{2} + L_{5}^{2})\right]^{2}}{8a^{2}P_{u}P_{v}}$$
(4.22)

and

$$\rho_*^2 = \frac{K^2}{4P_u P_v} - \frac{1}{2}(2a^2 + L_1^2 + L_5^2) > 0.$$
(4.23)



Figure 3. Time delay between massless particles moving in a 2-charge fuzzball geometry and flat space-time as a function of the adimensionalised impact parameter b/a.

4.4 An example of critical geodesics

To illustrate the trapping behaviour of fuzzballs, let us consider the critical geodesics along the plane $\vartheta = \pi/2$, for the choice

$$L_1 = L_5 = a$$
, $P_u = P_v$, $P_{\psi} = 0$. (4.24)

For this choice the velocity \dot{y} of the particle along the compact circle can be set to zero along the full trajectory. The critical geodesics fall into case II above. Introducing the impact parameter

$$b = \frac{P_{\varphi}}{E} = \frac{P_{\varphi}}{\sqrt{2}P_u} \tag{4.25}$$

and using (4.13), (4.15), (4.10) one finds

$$\mathcal{P}_3(\rho) = 2P_u^2 \rho^2 \left[\rho^4 + (3a^2 - b^2)\rho^2 + (3a - 2b)a^3 \right]$$
(4.26)

with largest zero

$$\rho_*^2 = \frac{b^2 - 3a^2 + \sqrt{(b-a)^3(b+3a)}}{2} \,. \tag{4.27}$$

The turning point exists for $b \leq -3a$ or $b \geq 3a/2$; when b = 3a/2 or b = -3a a limit cycle exists at $\rho = 0$ and $\rho = \sqrt{3}a$ respectively. For values of b in-between P_{ρ}^2 has no zeroes, the probe reaches $\rho = 0$ in a finite, possibly large, amount of time, surpasses it and gets scattered back at infinity. The time to reach ρ_* is given by

$$\Delta t = \int_{\rho_0}^{\rho_*} d\rho \, \frac{\rho^4 + 3a^2\rho^2 + (3a-b)a^3}{\rho^2 + a^2} \, \frac{\sqrt{2}P_u \, \rho}{\sqrt{\mathcal{P}_3(\rho^2)}} \tag{4.28}$$

In (figure 3) we display the difference between the total flight time in the fuzzball geometry and in flat space-time as a function of b for a fixed large ρ_0 . As expected, the closer a particle's impact parameter approaches the critical one, the longer the time it will spend orbiting around the fuzzball. It is also clear that even though for $b < b_c$ the particle will eventually be scattered, it spends a considerable amount of time in the proximity of the fuzzball.

5 3-charge fuzzballs

In this section we consider scattering on 3-charge fuzzball geometries.

5.1 The Hamiltonian and momenta

Momenta and velocities in the 3-charge geometry are related by

$$P_{u} = -(\dot{v} + \beta_{m}\dot{x}^{m}) \qquad \qquad \hat{P}_{v} = -(\dot{u} + \gamma_{m}\dot{x}^{m}) \qquad \qquad \hat{P}_{\rho} = \frac{Z^{2}(\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2})}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}}\dot{\rho}$$
$$\hat{P}_{\vartheta} = Z^{2}(\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2})\dot{\vartheta} \qquad \qquad \hat{P}_{\psi} = Z^{2}\rho^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}\dot{\psi} \qquad \qquad \hat{P}_{\varphi} = Z^{2}(\rho^{2} + a^{2})s_{\vartheta}^{2}\dot{\varphi}. \tag{5.1}$$

The important difference with respect to the 2-charge case is that now β_m , γ_m and Z, and therefore the Hamiltonian, explicitly depend on the combination $\phi = \varphi + \frac{nv}{R}$ and therefore P_v and P_{φ} are no longer conserved separately but only their combination $P_{\nu} = P_v - \frac{n}{R}P_{\varphi}$ is. Indeed, the equations of motion become

$$\dot{P}_{u} = \dot{P}_{\nu} = \dot{P}_{\psi} = \mathcal{H} = 0$$

$$\dot{P}_{\vartheta} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial \vartheta}$$

$$\dot{P}_{\varphi} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial \varphi} = -\frac{R}{n} \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial v} = \frac{R}{n} \dot{P}_{v} .$$
(5.2)

We observe that the Hamiltonian \mathcal{H} is a rational function of $\cos \vartheta^2$ and therefore

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial \vartheta} \sim \cos \vartheta \sin \vartheta \,. \tag{5.3}$$

This implies that P_{ϑ} is conserved for $\vartheta = 0, \pi/2$. Moreover at $\vartheta = 0, \pi/2$, $\hat{P}_{\vartheta} = P_{\vartheta}$ and therefore constant P_{ϑ} implies constant $\dot{\vartheta}$. We conclude that geodesics starting at $\vartheta = 0, \pi/2$ with zero initial ϑ velocity, $\dot{\vartheta} = 0$ keep ϑ constant along the whole trajectory. In the following we restrict ourselves on geodesics along these two planes.

5.2 $\vartheta = 0$ geodesics

Let us start by choosing n = 1 and considering the geodesics in the plane $\vartheta = 0$, orthogonal to the circular profile. The functions and forms defining the metric assume the following expression

$$Z_{4} = 0$$

$$\beta = -\frac{a^{2} R}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}} d\psi$$

$$\gamma = \frac{a^{2} R}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}} (1 - \mathcal{F}_{1}) d\psi + \mathcal{F}_{1} dv$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{1} = -\frac{\varepsilon_{4}^{2}}{2(\rho^{2} + a^{2})}$$

$$Z^{2} = Z_{1} Z_{2} = \left(1 + \frac{L_{1}^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{L_{5}^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}}\right).$$
(5.4)

Taking $\hat{P}_{\vartheta} = P_{\vartheta} = 0$ and $P_{\varphi} = \hat{P}_{\varphi} = 0$, the Hamiltonian becomes

$$\mathcal{H} = -P_u \,\widehat{P}_v + \frac{1}{2Z^2} \left(\widehat{P}_\rho^2 + \frac{\widehat{P}_\psi^2}{\rho^2}\right) \tag{5.5}$$

with

$$\widehat{P}_{v} = P_{v} + \frac{\varepsilon_{4}^{2}}{2(\rho^{2} + a^{2})}P_{u}, \qquad \widehat{P}_{\rho} = P_{\rho}
\widehat{P}_{\psi} = P_{\psi} - \frac{a^{2}R}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}}(P_{u} - P_{v}).$$
(5.6)

Recall that P_u , P_v , P_{ψ} are conserved quantities. Plugging this into (2.21) one finds

$$P_{\rho} = \pm \left[2Z^2 P_u \, \widehat{P}_v - \frac{\widehat{P}_{\psi}^2}{\rho^2} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} = \pm \frac{\mathcal{P}_4(\rho^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\rho(\rho^2 + a^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \tag{5.7}$$

with, setting $\rho^2 = x$ as above,

$$\mathcal{P}_4(x) = P_u x \left(x + a^2 + L_1^2\right) \left(x + a^2 + L_5^2\right) \left[2 P_v(x + a^2) + \varepsilon_4^2 P_u\right] - \left(x + a^2\right) \left[P_\psi(x + a^2) - a^2 R(P_u - P_v)\right]^2.$$
(5.8)

We notice that the polynomial $\mathcal{P}_4(x)$ is positive for $x \to \infty$ and negative for $x \to 0$. Therefore it has a zero somewhere on the positive x axis. Again we denote x_* the largest positive zero. If x_* is simple then it is a turning point and the particle gets deflected in the gravitational background. On the other hand for a critical choice of P_{ψ} for which x_* is a double zero the particle gets trapped in the gravitational background, asymptotically approaching $\rho_* = \sqrt{x_*}$.

As an illustration of this critical behavior, let us consider a particle with no internal Kaluza-Klein momentum $P_v = P_u$ and

$$L_1^2 = L_5^2 = \varepsilon_4^2 / 2 = L^2 \ge 3a^2 \,. \tag{5.9}$$

For this choice the polynomial $\mathcal{P}_4(x)$ takes the simple form

$$\mathcal{P}_4(x) = 2P_u^2 x \left(x + a^2 + L^2\right)^3 - (x + a^2)^3 P_{\psi}^2.$$
(5.10)

Solving the critical conditions $\mathcal{P}_4(x) = \mathcal{P}'_4(x) = 0$ one finds a double zero at

$$x_* = L^2 - a^2 + L\sqrt{L^2 - 3a^2}$$
(5.11)

for the critical choice of angular momentum

$$P_{\psi} = \sqrt{6}P_{u}L\left[1 + \frac{L^{2}}{9a^{2}} - \frac{L^{2}}{9a^{2}}\left(1 - \frac{3a^{2}}{L^{2}}\right)^{3/2}\right].$$
(5.12)

In other words, scattering massless particles off the fuzzball geometry, one finds that the components with P_{ψ} satisfying (5.12) are missing in the out-going spectrum, and the fuzzball geometry behaves effectively as a black object for the selected "channel".

5.3 $\vartheta = \pi/2$ geodesics

In this plane, the Hamiltonian, explicitly depends on the combination $\phi = \varphi + \frac{nv}{R}$, so it is convenient to introduce the canonically related variables ϕ , ν (and their conjugate momenta)

$$\varphi = \phi - \frac{nv}{R} , \qquad P_{\varphi} = P_{\phi}$$

$$v = \nu , \qquad P_{v} = P_{\nu} + \frac{n}{R} P_{\phi} \qquad (5.13)$$

In terms of these variables the equations of motion become

$$\dot{P}_{u} = \dot{P}_{\nu} = \dot{P}_{\psi} = \mathcal{H} = 0$$

$$\dot{P}_{\vartheta} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial \vartheta}$$

$$\dot{P}_{\phi} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial \phi}.$$
 (5.14)

For motion in the plane of the string profile, the metric is given by (2.1) and (2.3) with

Taking $\hat{P}_{\vartheta} = P_{\vartheta} = 0, \, \hat{P}_{\psi} = P_{\psi} = 0$, the Hamiltonian reads

$$\mathcal{H} = -P_u \hat{P}_v + \frac{(\rho^2 + a^2) \,\hat{P}_\rho^2}{2Z^2 \rho^2} + \frac{\hat{P}_\varphi^2}{2Z^2 (\rho^2 + a^2)} \tag{5.17}$$

where the hatted conjugate momenta have the form

$$\widehat{P}_{v} = P_{\nu} + \frac{n}{R} P_{\phi} + \mathcal{F}_{n} P_{u}$$

$$\widehat{P}_{\rho} = P_{\rho} + \frac{\varepsilon_{1} R P_{u} \Delta_{n} \sin 2\phi}{2\rho L_{5}^{2}}$$

$$\widehat{P}_{\varphi} = P_{\phi} - \frac{a^{2}}{\rho^{2}} \left(n P_{\phi} + R P_{\nu} + R P_{u} \right) + \frac{2a^{2} R P_{u}}{\rho^{2}} \left[\mathcal{F}_{n} + \frac{\varepsilon_{1} \Delta_{n} (\rho^{2} + a^{2}) \cos 2\phi}{4a^{2} L_{5}^{2}} \right]$$
(5.18)

with P_u and P_ν conserved quantities.

Let us focus on the truly dynamical variables ρ and ϕ . Their velocities are given by⁷

$$\dot{\rho} = \frac{\rho^2 + a^2}{Z^2 \rho^2} \widehat{P}_{\rho}$$

$$\dot{\phi} = \frac{\widehat{P}_{\varphi}(\rho^2 - na^2)}{Z^2 \rho^2 (\rho^2 + a^2)} - \frac{nP_u}{R}.$$
(5.20)

Choosing ϕ as independent variable, the equations of motion can be written in the form

$$\frac{d\rho}{d\phi} = \frac{\widehat{P}_{\rho} R(\rho^2 + a^2)^2}{\widehat{P}_{\varphi} R(\rho^2 - na^2) - P_u Z^2 \rho^2 (\rho^2 + a^2)}
\frac{dP_{\phi}}{d\phi} = -\frac{1}{\dot{\phi}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi} \left[\frac{(\rho^2 + a^2) \widehat{P}_{\rho}^2}{2Z^2 \rho^2} + \frac{\widehat{P}_{\varphi}^2}{2Z^2 (\rho^2 + a^2)} \right]$$
(5.21)

and

$$\widehat{P}_{\rho}^{2} = \frac{\rho^{2}}{(\rho^{2} + a^{2})^{2}} \left[2Z^{2} P_{u} \,\widehat{P}_{v}(\rho^{2} + a^{2}) - \widehat{P}_{\varphi}^{2} \right] \,.$$
(5.22)

We are interested in solutions of the geodesic equations (5.21) characterised by trajectories trapped in the gravitational background. As before, we expect that for specific values of the incoming angular momentum P_{ϕ} , there exists geodesics ending on trapping trajectories but now both the asymptotic trajectory and the angular momentum will in general vary with ϕ .

5.3.1 Asymptotic circular orbits

Due to the complexity of the three-charge problem along the $\vartheta = \pi/2$ plane, trajectories in general cannot be obtained in analytic form. In this section we present an example of solution in the region where the particle reaches a critical orbit. We look for geodesics asymptotically reaching circular trajectories with constant angular velocity, i.e. $\dot{\rho} = 0$, $\dot{\phi} = w$. For concreteness⁸ we take

$$L_1 = L_5 = L = a \,. \tag{5.23}$$

According to (5.20), a constant angular velocity can be found by taking

$$\rho^2 = na^2 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \dot{\phi} = -\frac{nP_u}{R}$$
(5.24)

while $\dot{\rho} = 0$ requires

$$\hat{P}_{\rho} = 0 \tag{5.25}$$

⁷The evolution of ν , as well as of the other coordinates, follows from the one of ρ and ϕ . In particular

$$\dot{\nu} = -P_u - \frac{a^2 R}{Z^2 \rho^2 (\rho^2 + a^2)} \hat{P}_{\varphi} \,. \tag{5.19}$$

⁸We choose $L_1 = L_5 = a$ only for illustrative purposes of the general case where the three quantities are of the same order. We notice that this symmetric choice is far different from the standard choice where a is taken much smaller than the D1 and D5 charges, i.e. $a \ll L_{1,5}$.

or equivalently

$$2Z^2 P_u \hat{P}_v(\rho^2 + a^2) - \hat{P}_{\varphi}^2 = 0.$$
(5.26)

We notice that at the critical point $\rho^2 = na^2$, Z^2 is constant and \hat{P}_{φ} reduces to

$$\widehat{P}_{\varphi} = \frac{R}{n} \left[2\mathcal{F}_n P_u - P_u - P_\nu + \frac{\varepsilon_1(n+1)}{2 a^2} P_u \Delta_n \cos 2\phi \right] \,. \tag{5.27}$$

Equation (5.26) can therefore be easily solved for P_{ϕ}

$$P_{\phi} = \frac{R}{n} \left[\frac{\hat{P}_{\varphi}^2}{2 P_u Z^2 a^2 (n+1)} - P_{\nu} - \mathcal{F}_n P_u \right] .$$
 (5.28)

The two equations of motion (5.21) are satisfied for $\rho = \sqrt{n} a$ and P_{ϕ} given by (5.28), quite remarkably this provides an exact solution for the non separable system. It would be interesting to find a solution interpolating between infinity and these closed trajectories.

5.4 Geodesics in the near horizon geometry

Finally, we consider massless geodesics in the near horizon geometry. As shown in [61], massless geodesics in this region are described by a separable dynamics that can be integrated in an analytic form. The crucial difference with the case of asymptotically flat solutions is that in the near the horizon, ϕ -oscillating terms are missing leading to solutions carrying no v-dependence. Here we display some simple examples of trapped geodesics in this region. The geodesics in this region can be viewed as the continuation of trajectories starting from infinity with initial conditions chosen such that no return or critical points are found before the particle reaches distances much smaller than L_1 and L_5 .

The near horizon geometry is defined by taking

$$L_{1,5}^2 \gg \rho^2 + a^2 \,. \tag{5.29}$$

For this choice important simplifications take place. First, the regularity conditions (2.7) reduce to

$$\varepsilon_1 = \varepsilon_4^2 \quad , \quad \frac{L_1^2 L_5^2}{R^2} = 2a^2 + \varepsilon_4^2$$
 (5.30)

with L_1 , L_5 , R taken to be large with fixed ratio L_1L_5/R^2 .

The functions entering in the six-dimensional metric reduce to

$$Z^{2} = \frac{\Delta_{n} s_{\vartheta}^{2} \left(2a^{2}R^{2} - L_{1}^{2}L_{5}^{2}\right) + L_{1}^{2}L_{5}^{2}}{\left(a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2} + \rho^{2}\right)^{2}}$$

$$\beta = \frac{a^{2}R}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}} \left[s_{\vartheta}^{2} d\varphi - c_{\vartheta}^{2} d\psi\right]$$

$$\gamma = \frac{a^{2}R \left(1 - \mathcal{F}_{n}\right)}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}} \left[s_{\vartheta}^{2} d\varphi + c_{\vartheta}^{2} d\psi\right] + \mathcal{F}_{n} dv$$
(5.31)

with

$$\mathcal{F}_{n} = -\frac{\varepsilon_{4}^{2}}{2a^{2}} \left[1 - \left(\frac{\rho^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}}\right)^{n} \right]$$

$$\Delta_{n} = \frac{a^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}} \left(\frac{\rho^{2}}{\rho^{2} + a^{2}}\right)^{n}.$$
 (5.32)

The Hamiltonian depends only on ϑ and ρ , so the momenta P_u , P_v , P_{ψ} and P_{φ} are all conserved. The Hamiltonian can be separated according to

$$2Z^{2}\left(\rho^{2}+a^{2}c_{\vartheta}^{2}\right)\mathcal{H}=\lambda_{\rho}(\rho,P_{\rho})+\lambda_{\vartheta}(\vartheta,P_{\vartheta})$$
(5.33)

with

$$\lambda_{\vartheta}(\vartheta, P_{\vartheta}) = P_{\vartheta}^{2} + \frac{P_{\psi}^{2}}{\cos^{2}\vartheta} + \frac{P_{\varphi}^{2}}{\sin^{2}\vartheta}$$

$$\lambda_{\rho}(\rho, P_{\rho}) = (a^{2} + \rho^{2})P_{\rho}^{2} + \frac{2R^{2}P_{u}\left(2a^{2}\mathcal{F}_{n} + \epsilon_{4}^{2}\right)\left(\mathcal{F}_{n}P_{u} - P_{v}\right)}{a^{2} + \rho^{2}}$$

$$+ \frac{a^{2}\left(P_{\psi} + RP_{v} - RP_{u}\right)^{2}}{\rho^{2}} - \frac{a^{2}\left(P_{\varphi} + RP_{v} + RP_{u} - 2\mathcal{F}_{n}RP_{u}\right)^{2}}{a^{2} + \rho^{2}}.$$
(5.34)

The equation $\mathcal{H} = 0$ can be solved by taking

$$\lambda_{\vartheta} = -\lambda_{\rho} = K^2 \tag{5.36}$$

with K a constant, that can be interpreted as the total angular momentum. Solving the second equation for $P_{\rho}(\rho)$ one finds

$$P_{\rho}^{2}(\rho) = \frac{\mathcal{P}_{2n+1}(\rho^{2})}{\rho^{2}(\rho^{2}+a^{2})^{2}}$$
(5.37)

with $\mathcal{P}_{2n+1}(x)$ a polynomial of order 2n + 1. Turning points are associated to zeros of the polynomial $\mathcal{P}_{2n+1}(x)$ and critical geodesics to choices of angular momenta such that the two largest zeros of $\mathcal{P}_{2n+1}(x)$ collide.

For the sake of simplicity we will discuss only the n = 1 null geodesics, the order 3 polynomial reduces to

$$\mathcal{P}_3(x) = Ax^3 + Bx^2 + Cx + D \tag{5.38}$$

where the list of coefficients reads

$$\begin{split} A &= -K^2 \\ B &= a^2 \bigg[\frac{2\varepsilon_4^2 P_u P_v R^2}{a^2} + [P_{\varphi} + R(P_u + P_v)]^2 - [P_{\psi} - R(P_u - P_v)]^2 - 2K^2 \bigg] \\ C &= a^4 \bigg[\left(\frac{\varepsilon_4^2 P_u R}{a^2} + [P_{\varphi} + R(P_u + P_v)] \right)^2 - 2[P_{\psi} - R(P_u - P_v))]^2 - K^2 \bigg] \\ D &= -a^6 \left[P_{\psi} - (P_u - P_v) R \right]^2 \end{split}$$

In order to illustrate the behaviour of the geodesics in this context, as before we choose the conserved quantities such that D = 0, i.e. $P_{\psi} = R(P_u - P_v)$. A further simplification occurs by choosing $P_{\varphi} = -R(P_u + P_v)$ and $P_v = P_u$, leading to

$$\mathcal{P}_{3}(x) = -x \left[K^{2} x^{2} + 2 \left(a^{2} K^{2} - \varepsilon_{4}^{2} P_{u}^{2} R^{2} \right) x + \left(a^{4} K^{2} - \varepsilon_{4}^{4} P_{u}^{2} R^{2} \right) \right]$$
(5.39)

by requiring two coincident roots one finds the relations

$$\rho_{\rm crit} = \sqrt{a^2 - \varepsilon_4^2}, \qquad K^2 = \frac{\varepsilon_4^2 P_u^2 R^2}{2a^2 - \varepsilon_4^2}.$$
(5.40)

This shows that critical geodesics exist if $a > \varepsilon_4$ i.e. $aR > L_1L_5/\sqrt{3}$.

6 Conclusions and outlook

Relying on a class of micro-state geometries for 3-charge systems in D = 5 constructed in [39], we have further tested the fuzzball proposal by studying massless geodesics in these backgrounds. In particular we have shown that 2- and 3-charge fuzzball geometries tend to trap massless neutral particles for a specific choice of their impact parameter. This is at variant with classical BH's that trap all particles impinging with an impact parameter below a certain critical value of the order of the horizon radius. This suggests that the blackness property of black holes arises as a collective effect whereby each micro-state absorbs a specific channel.

The analysis has been performed in various steps. First we have reviewed the general form of the metric and written down the geodesic equations for massless neutral probes in both the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian forms. Then we focused on the cases of (singular) non-rotating BPS black-holes with 3-charge, on micro-states for 2-charge systems with a circular profile and finally on the 3-charge case.

We have (implicitly) integrated the geodesic equations for the 2-charge case for generic initial values of the angle ϑ and of the integration constant K (playing the role of total angular momentum), thus generalising our previous results for $\vartheta = 0$ (plane orthogonal to the circular profile) and $\vartheta = \pi/2$ (plane of the circular profile).

In the 3-charge case we have fully analysed the geodesics for $\vartheta = 0$ (since they lead to separable equations of the same form as in the 2-charge case, previously analysed) and written down the equations for $\vartheta = \pi/2$, that lead to a non-separable system. A simple solution of this intricate system has been found.

We also considered massless geodesics on asymptotically AdS 3-charge geometries of the type studied in [61].⁹ These geometries, unlike their extension to asymptotically flat space, are characterized by a separable dynamics and massless geodesics can therefore be integrated in an analytic form. We presented explicit examples of trapped geodesics that can be viewed as the end points of the trajectories of massless particles infalling from infinity without encountering turning or critical points before reaching distances much smaller than L_1 and L_5 .

In this paper we restricted our attention to the study of scattering of classical point-like massless neutral probes. It would be interesting to extend this analysis to more general probes like massive, possibly charged, particles, waves and strings where tidal effects such as those studied in [62] can be relevant.

Other classes of smooth (non-supersymmetric) geometries (such as JMaRT [52]) lead to interesting effects [4] due to the presence of an ergo-region of finite extent without horizons or singularities. In [63], the authors studied the properties of geodesics in the closely related setup of five and six dimensional supersymmetric fuzzball geometries. In particular they used the presence of stably trapped geodesics to argue for the existence of a non-linear instability even for these BPS microstate geometries. These trapped geodesics may be related to the circular orbits considered in section 5.3.1 of the present paper. It

 $^{^{9}\}mathrm{We}$ thank the referee for drawing our attention on this work.

would be interesting to study linear perturbations and (quasi-)normal modes that may signal a potential instability of the microstate solutions.

Finally, the analysis in [64] has some overlap with section 3 of the present paper, where for completeness and comparison with the original results of our analysis we discussed null geodesics in rotating and non-rotating singular black-holes in five dimensions.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge fruitful discussions with Andrea Addazi, Pascal Anastasopoulos, Guillaume Bossard, Ramy Brustein, Paolo Di Vecchia, Maurizio Firrotta, Francesco Fucito, Stefano Giusto, Elias Kiritsis, Antonino Marcianò, Lorenzo Pieri, Gabriele Rizzo, Rodolfo Russo, Raffaele Savelli, Masaki Shigemori, Gabriele Veneziano, and Natale Zinnato. Part of the work was carried on while D. C. was visiting Erwin Schrödingier Institute in Vienna and while and M. B. and J. F. M. were visiting Galileo Galilei Institute in Florence. We would like to thank both Institutes for the kind hospitality. We thank the MIUR-PRIN contract 2015MP2CX4002 "Non-perturbative aspects of gauge theories and strings" for partial support.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] LIGO SCIENTIFIC, VIRGO collaboration, Observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116** (2016) 061102 [arXiv:1602.03837] [INSPIRE].
- S. Clesse and J. García-Bellido, Seven hints for primordial black hole dark matter, Phys. Dark Univ. 22 (2018) 137 [arXiv:1711.10458] [INSPIRE].
- [3] R. Penrose and R.M. Floyd, Extraction of rotational energy from a black hole, Nature 229 (1971) 177 [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Bianchi, M. Casolino and G. Rizzo, Penrose mechanism for smooth non BPS fuzz balls, work in progress.
- [5] O. Lunin and S.D. Mathur, AdS/CFT duality and the black hole information paradox, Nucl. Phys. B 623 (2002) 342 [hep-th/0109154] [INSPIRE].
- [6] O. Lunin, J.M. Maldacena and L. Maoz, Gravity solutions for the D1-D5 system with angular momentum, hep-th/0212210 [INSPIRE].
- S.D. Mathur, A. Saxena and Y.K. Srivastava, Constructing 'hair' for the three charge hole, Nucl. Phys. B 680 (2004) 415 [hep-th/0311092] [INSPIRE].
- [8] O. Lunin, Adding momentum to D1-D5 system, JHEP 04 (2004) 054 [hep-th/0404006]
 [INSPIRE].
- [9] S.D. Mathur, The fuzzball proposal for black holes: an elementary review, Fortsch. Phys. 53 (2005) 793 [hep-th/0502050] [INSPIRE].

- [10] K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, The fuzzball proposal for black holes, Phys. Rept. 467 (2008) 117 [arXiv:0804.0552] [INSPIRE].
- [11] S.D. Mathur, *Fuzzballs and the information paradox: a summary and conjectures*, arXiv:0810.4525 [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Strominger and C. Vafa, Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, Phys. Lett. B 379 (1996) 99 [hep-th/9601029] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J.C. Breckenridge et al., Macroscopic and microscopic entropy of near extremal spinning black holes, Phys. Lett. B 381 (1996) 423 [hep-th/9603078] [INSPIRE].
- [14] J.M. Maldacena, Black holes in string theory, Ph.D. thesis, Princeton U., 1996. hep-th/9607235 [INSPIRE].
- [15] J.M. Maldacena, A. Strominger and E. Witten, Black hole entropy in M-theory, JHEP 12 (1997) 002 [hep-th/9711053] [INSPIRE].
- [16] J.M. Maldacena and A. Strominger, AdS₃ black holes and a stringy exclusion principle, JHEP 12 (1998) 005 [hep-th/9804085] [INSPIRE].
- [17] S. Giusto, S.D. Mathur and A. Saxena, Dual geometries for a set of 3-charge microstates, Nucl. Phys. B 701 (2004) 357 [hep-th/0405017] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Giusto, S.D. Mathur and A. Saxena, 3-charge geometries and their CFT duals, Nucl. Phys. B 710 (2005) 425 [hep-th/0406103] [INSPIRE].
- [19] I. Bena and N.P. Warner, Bubbling supertubes and foaming black holes, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 066001 [hep-th/0505166] [INSPIRE].
- [20] P. Berglund, E.G. Gimon and T.S. Levi, Supergravity microstates for BPS black holes and black rings, JHEP 06 (2006) 007 [hep-th/0505167] [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Saxena, G. Potvin, S. Giusto and A.W. Peet, Smooth geometries with four charges in four dimensions, JHEP 04 (2006) 010 [hep-th/0509214] [INSPIRE].
- [22] I. Bena, C.-W. Wang and N.P. Warner, Mergers and typical black hole microstates, JHEP 11 (2006) 042 [hep-th/0608217] [INSPIRE].
- [23] I. Bena and N. P. Warner, Black holes, black rings and their microstates, Lect. Notes Phys. 755 (2008) 1 [hep-th/0701216].
- [24] I. Bena, C.-W. Wang and N.P. Warner, *Plumbing the abyss: black ring microstates*, *JHEP* 07 (2008) 019 [arXiv:0706.3786] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S. Giusto, J.F. Morales and R. Russo, D1D5 microstate geometries from string amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2010) 130 [arXiv:0912.2270] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S. Giusto, R. Russo and D. Turton, New D1-D5-P geometries from string amplitudes, JHEP 11 (2011) 062 [arXiv:1108.6331] [INSPIRE].
- [27] O. Lunin, S.D. Mathur and D. Turton, Adding momentum to supersymmetric geometries, Nucl. Phys. B 868 (2013) 383 [arXiv:1208.1770] [INSPIRE].
- [28] S. Giusto and R. Russo, Superdescendants of the D1D5 CFT and their dual 3-charge geometries, JHEP 03 (2014) 007 [arXiv:1311.5536] [INSPIRE].
- [29] G.W. Gibbons and N.P. Warner, Global structure of five-dimensional fuzzballs, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 025016 [arXiv:1305.0957] [INSPIRE].

- [30] I. Bena et al., Habemus superstratum! A constructive proof of the existence of superstrata, JHEP 05 (2015) 110 [arXiv:1503.01463] [INSPIRE].
- [31] O. Lunin, Bubbling geometries for $AdS_2 \times S^2$, JHEP **10** (2015) 167 [arXiv:1507.06670] [INSPIRE].
- [32] I. Bena, E. Martinec, D. Turton and N.P. Warner, Momentum fractionation on superstrata, JHEP 05 (2016) 064 [arXiv:1601.05805] [INSPIRE].
- [33] I. Bena et al., Smooth horizonless geometries deep inside the black-hole regime, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 201601 [arXiv:1607.03908] [INSPIRE].
- [34] L. Pieri, Fuzzballs in general relativity: a missed opportunity, arXiv:1611.05276 [INSPIRE].
- [35] M. Bianchi, J.F. Morales and L. Pieri, Stringy origin of 4d black hole microstates, JHEP 06 (2016) 003 [arXiv:1603.05169] [INSPIRE].
- [36] L. Pieri, Black hole microstates from branes at angle, JHEP 07 (2017) 077 [arXiv:1610.06156] [INSPIRE].
- [37] M. Bianchi, J.F. Morales, L. Pieri and N. Zinnato, More on microstate geometries of 4d black holes, JHEP 05 (2017) 147 [arXiv:1701.05520] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. Bianchi, D. Consoli and J.F. Morales, Probing fuzzballs with particles, waves and strings, JHEP 06 (2018) 157 [arXiv:1711.10287] [INSPIRE].
- [39] I. Bena et al., Asymptotically-flat supergravity solutions deep inside the black-hole regime, JHEP 02 (2018) 014 [arXiv:1711.10474] [INSPIRE].
- [40] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni and G. Veneziano, Superstring collisions at planckian energies, Phys. Lett. B 197 (1987) 81 [INSPIRE].
- [41] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni and G. Veneziano, Classical and quantum gravity effects from Planckian energy superstring collisions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 3 (1988) 1615 [INSPIRE].
- [42] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni and G. Veneziano, Can space-time be probed below the string size?, Phys. Lett. B 216 (1989) 41 [INSPIRE].
- [43] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni and G. Veneziano, Higher order gravitational deflection and soft bremsstrahlung in Planckian energy superstring collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 347 (1990) 550 [INSPIRE].
- [44] A. Hashimoto and I.R. Klebanov, Decay of excited D-branes, Phys. Lett. B 381 (1996) 437
 [hep-th/9604065] [INSPIRE].
- [45] A. Hashimoto and I.R. Klebanov, Scattering of strings from D-branes, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 55 (1997) 118 [hep-th/9611214] [INSPIRE].
- [46] M.R. Garousi and R.C. Myers, Superstring scattering from D-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 475 (1996) 193 [hep-th/9603194] [INSPIRE].
- [47] G. D'Appollonio, P. Di Vecchia, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, *High-energy string-brane* scattering: leading eikonal and beyond, *JHEP* **11** (2010) 100 [arXiv:1008.4773] [INSPIRE].
- [48] M. Bianchi and P. Teresi, Scattering higher spins off D-branes, JHEP 01 (2012) 161 [arXiv:1108.1071] [INSPIRE].
- [49] G. D'Appollonio, P. Vecchia, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, Microscopic unitary description of tidal excitations in high-energy string-brane collisions, JHEP 11 (2013) 126 [arXiv:1310.1254] [INSPIRE].

- [50] G. D'Appollonio, P. Di Vecchia, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, The leading eikonal operator in string-brane scattering at high energy, Springer Proc. Phys. 153 (2014) 145 [arXiv:1310.4478].
- [51] G. D'Appollonio, P. Di Vecchia, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, A microscopic description of absorption in high-energy string-brane collisions, JHEP 03 (2016) 030 [arXiv:1510.03837] [INSPIRE].
- [52] V. Jejjala, O. Madden, S.F. Ross and G. Titchener, Non-supersymmetric smooth geometries and D1-D5-P bound states, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 124030 [hep-th/0504181] [INSPIRE].
- [53] G.W. Gibbons, Antigravitating black hole solitons with scalar hair in N = 4 supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 207 (1982) 337 [INSPIRE].
- [54] G.W. Gibbons and K.-i. Maeda, Black holes and membranes in higher dimensional theories with dilaton fields, Nucl. Phys. B 298 (1988) 741 [INSPIRE].
- [55] J.C. Breckenridge, R.C. Myers, A.W. Peet and C. Vafa, *D-branes and spinning black holes*, *Phys. Lett.* B 391 (1997) 93 [hep-th/9602065] [INSPIRE].
- [56] O. Lunin and S.D. Mathur, Metric of the multiply wound rotating string, Nucl. Phys. B 610 (2001) 49 [hep-th/0105136] [INSPIRE].
- [57] M. Cvetič and D. Youm, General rotating five-dimensional black holes of toroidally compactified heterotic string, Nucl. Phys. B 476 (1996) 118 [hep-th/9603100] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Cvetič and F. Larsen, General rotating black holes in string theory: Grey body factors and event horizons, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 4994 [hep-th/9705192] [INSPIRE].
- [59] O. Lunin and S.D. Mathur, The Slowly rotating near extremal D1-D5 system as a 'hot tube', Nucl. Phys. B 615 (2001) 285 [hep-th/0107113] [INSPIRE].
- [60] Y. Chervonyi and O. Lunin, (Non)-integrability of geodesics in D-brane backgrounds, JHEP
 02 (2014) 061 [arXiv:1311.1521] [INSPIRE].
- [61] I. Bena, D. Turton, R. Walker and N.P. Warner, Integrability and black-hole microstate geometries, JHEP 11 (2017) 021 [arXiv:1709.01107] [INSPIRE].
- [62] A. Tyukov, R. Walker and N.P. Warner, Tidal stresses and energy gaps in microstate geometries, JHEP 02 (2018) 122 [arXiv:1710.09006] [INSPIRE].
- [63] F.C. Eperon, H.S. Reall and J.E. Santos, Instability of supersymmetric microstate geometries, JHEP 10 (2016) 031 [arXiv:1607.06828] [INSPIRE].
- [64] V. Frolov, P. Krtous and D. Kubiznak, Black holes, hidden symmetries and complete integrability, Living Rev. Rel. 20 (2017) 6 [arXiv:1705.05482] [INSPIRE].